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The William P. Hall House is located in Lancaster, Missouri on the south
side of State Highway 136, one block west of the Schuyler County Courthouse.
The large, Victorian, two-story frame structure has an irreguiar plan. It
was erected circa 1902.

EXTERIOR: A spacious columned one-story porch paraliels one-half of the west
facade, the entire main (north) face, and the length of the east side.

Ionic style columns rest on a brick foundatijon. The porch roof has a low
gable located directly above the front entrance. There is a porte-cochére
attached to the west side of the house; a gravel driveway leads northward

to the highway and southward to a garage located southwest of the house.

The front and east facades have projecting two-stery bays that extend

upward into the gables. Windows throughout the house are typically double-
hung with one pane of glass in each sash. Ornate bargeboard enhances the
gables on the north and east, and a fireplace chimney of later construction
has replaced simiiar trim on the west. Besides the fireplace chimney, there
are two smaller chimneys. The roof is covered with asbestos shingles.

138

INTERIOR: There is a full basement. In addition to the small front
entrance hall, there are five large rooms on the first floor. A 17-step,
“U" plan stairway is located at the left (east) side of the front hallway.
The stairway has a carved newel post. Instead of hinged doors, the first
floor rooms are connected by sliding doors. Molded wood trim surrounds the
doors. The floors are cak wood. The walls are papered. Other than one
room upstairs, the wallpaper is not original. A large brick fireplace with
a wood mantle is situated in the master bedroom on the first floor. In that
room, a secondary door permits exit to the porch and carport on the west
side. The kitchen (rear, southwest) has a stairway that leads to the second
floor as well as a door to a small covered rear porch.

SNOITL3NALS NI

The second floor has five rooms (discounting a small enclosed area above
the rear porch). In the room directly over the master bedroom, a small
fireplace has been bricked. Toward the front of the second floor, an open
area near the head of the stairs provides limited storage space. At the
rear of the second floor, a stairway leads to the full length attic.

CONDITION: The house is in sound structural condition, but needs minor re-
pairs and refurbishing. From examination of old photographs, it is apparent
that the large side/front porch and the brick fireplace on the west facade
were added to the main structure some years after it was erected circa 1902.

OUTBUILDINGS: These include a large building that has been converted to a
two-car garage, a smaller storage structure, and a summer kitchen/wash
house connected to the back porch by a covered breezeway. There are two
water pumps in the backyard, the older of the two is situated above a
cistern that is fed by a drainspout connected to the roof.
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SITE: A cast stone fence borders the yard on the west and north. At the
corner and entrance openings of the stone fence, concrete spheres have been
placed as decorative features. Directly to the east of the Hall House, there
is a large yard and flower garden that adds much to the building's overall
appearance. The house is situated in a residential neighborhood including
other homes and a nearby church. Hall's wild animal barns were located about
1-1/2 miles away on the edge of town. Much vehicular sound intrudes from
Missouri Highway 136 to the north and lesser noises emanate from a railroad
track about three-quarters of a block south.

GFO 921.724
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The William P. Hall House in Lancaster, Missouri was the longtime residence
of a colorful individual who had great impact on the American circus
industry in the first third of the twentieth century. Recognized by pro-
fessional colleagues and present-day circus historians as a significant
figure, the name of William Preston Hall has fallen into obscurity in the
past forty years. Even despite his large influence on the circus industry,
many of Hall's contemporaries never fathomed the full impact of his various
endeavors between the early 1900s and the 1930s. Hall's large frame house
in Lancaster was the scene of innumerable transactions that affected the
lives and destinies of those who made (or tried to make) a living from the
American circus.

Hall arose from humble origins. He was born near Lancaster on February 29,
1864, but the parents (William and Sidney Spurgeon) died before he reached
fifteen. To support himself, he began working as a farm laborer, and later
learned about horses and mules while employed at the Stretch Livery Stable.
He became deeply interested in what became a lifelong occupation - horse
trading. At the age of twenty, W. P. Hall was known as the Targest horse
dealer in Schuyler County'. From that interval onward, his career in
animals expanded rapidly.

In the period between the mid-1800s and early 1900s, numerous and in-
creasingly larger deals made him known as "The Horse King of the World."
To handle this increased volume, the "Horse King" placed his brother Louis
in charge of a sales barn in Richmond, Virginia in 1895. Also in the
1890s, the Lancaster dealer shipped horses and mules to the Furopean market
in large numbers; often he traveled overseas with these animals. During
the Boer War (1899-1902), he sold horses and mules to the British. In
order to satisfy the clients in South Africa, Hall sent Louis to Cape Town
to establish an overseas branch office. In 1904, the enterprising
businessman supplied 450 "well chosen® horses for the Boer War Show at the
St. Louis World's Fair.2 It was this type of activity that helped Taunch
his new career in show business,

Meanshile, Hall's increasing affiuence influenced his life style. In 1902,
he purchased a recently constructed home in Lancaster which became his
residence for the next thirty years. Having married Sarah Mitchell eight

e
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years before, he raised three children there.3 To local residents and others,
Hall was known as the "Colonel" or "Diamond Billy." the latter scbriquet
stemmed from the valuable diamonds he wore on ties, shirts, watch-chains, and
rings. He also sported a tall silk hat and large blue overcoat with black
silk lapels.® The portly horse trader must have cut quite a figure in rural
Missouri in the early 1900s.

Never one to rest on past successes, Hall put together even more fascinating
business deals in the twentieth century. Deeply invoived with horse and mule
trading, he slowly moved into show business. Following the brief affiliation
with the 1904 World's Fair, Hall bought several elephants at its close. Then
in the fall of 1904, the "Horse King" purchased his first circus but sold it
soon after that. A few months later in January, 1905, Hall acquired the
twenty-five car Walter L. Main Circus. Combining this equipment with his
horses and elephants, Hall founded his only circus. Unfortunately due to un-
favorable circumstances in 1905, The Great Wiiliam P. Hall Shows barely
lasted that season, and Hall, himself, left the show mid-summer.? As a
circus owner and manager, he did not do well.

However this is not to imply that Hall did not play a significant roie in the
circus world. From 1904 until his death, Hall's activities made him a
pivotal figure to such eminent circus historians as Charles P. Fox, Thomas
Parkinson, Robert Parkinson, Fred Pfenning, Jr., Fred Pfenning, III, and
others. In those productive years, "Oiamond Billy" the Lancaster "Horse
King" became a circus broker; he bought and sold equipment and animals to
those who wanted them.& Tom Parkinson, who published several articles on

W. P. Hall in Bandwagon (the journal of the Circus Historical Society),
stated that Hall conducted important business transactions with most of the
American circuses that existed between 1905-1930. The records demonstrated
that Hall not only dealt with floundering road shows but_the mightiest in the
industry - the Ringling Brothers World's Greatest Shows.’ From a tiny
village in northern Missouri, “Diamond Billy" sent emissaries out across the
nation to bid on parts or entire defunct circuses and wild west shows.
Obviously a person of Hall's commercial acumen served as a stabilizing force
in an otherwise chaotic industry.

Always a shrewd entrepreneur, Hall also leased circus equipment and animais

to individuals who wanted to put a show on the road but could not afford the
$50,000 to $100,000 necessary to finance such an undertaking. For as little
as $5,000, W. P. Hall leased this equipment. Unfortunately in most cases,
these neophyte circus owners experienced bankruptcy before the end of their
first season., Hall often warned these clients “"you'll be back" and - in

nine out of ten cases - they were! Despite these risky ventures, Hall provid-
ed a service to those enamored by the lure of profit and by the glamour of
tinsel and sawdust. According to the circus historians cited above, no one

before W. P. Hall or after provided the same caliber of circus brokerage

GPO 923.724
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service as did the Lancaster resident.8 Thus, the name of William P. Hall
must inextricably be linked to the halcyon years of the American circus.

During this lengthy period of business activity, Hall utilized his farm just
north of Lancaster as a storage area for circus wagons and cages; rail cars
were kept on a nearby siding, He also housed a variety of exotic animals in
several large barns; Tlions, tigers, elephants, bison, yak, water buffalo,
shetland ponies, and camels. Even forty years after his death, Lancaster
natives still relate how that as children they admired and even rode some
animals.9 This in itself gave an added dimension of urbanity and sophistica-
tion to a small north Missouri town.

"Diamond Billy" Hall continued his activities almost to the day of his death
on June 30, 1932, but the economic dislocation that resuited from the Great
Depression wrecked havoc on the circus industry. In the years following his
passing, the barns, equipment, and rail cars deteriorated. One article in
the Literary Digest described the Hall farm as the place "Where Circuses Go
When They Die." The feature pointed out "carved and gilded band-wagons, now
tarnished and crippled, tilting absurdly among the weeds. Ornate cages on
wheels, once florid in crimson and gold, pecpled by tawny tigers and shaggy
Tions, but now flaked and weather-beaten with prairie grass pushing up
between the worm-eaten boards."!0 One-by-one the barns were torn down, the
wagons, cages, and rail cars either junked or sold, and memories of W. P.
Hall's fascinating career grew dim. Today little remains of the circus
storage area except a few large concrete tethers once used to control the
elephants.

Regarding the William P. Hall House, Mrs. Hall tived there until her death

in 1957. Several years later the heirs sold it to the Herman Roberts family,
and on June 1, 1974, Mr. Roberts sold the house to the Schuyler County
Historical Society. Recently representatives of the Circus World Museum in
Baraboo, Wisconsin (probably the finest circus history collection in the
nation) came to Lancaster to collect and remove personal business papers lef
by W. P. Hall; today those same papers are located in the museum's archives.!!

The Schuyler County Historical Society plans to renovate the house and open
it as a living memorial to one of north Missouri's most dynamic sons. The
process of including this site held in such high esteem by the circus world
on the National Register of Historic Places will do much to further preserva-
tion work in northern Missouri.

GPO 921.724
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The survey of Missouri's sites of historical and architectural significance
is based on the selection of sites as they relate to the theme studies out-
lined in Missouri's State Historic Preservation Plan. Accordingly the
William P. Hall House is being nominated to the National Register because of
its relatedness to the Economics and Recreation themes of Missouri History.

FOOTNOTES

1. fFred Pfenning, III, "William P. Hall, "Missouri Historical Review, LXII
{April, 1968%, 286.

2. Pfenning, "Peanuts and Sawdust," Missouri Historical Review, XXXVI
(January, 1942), 200-201,

3. Arthur M. Swanson and George W. Ford, A History of Schuyler County,
Missouri, {Trenton: W. B. Rogers Printing Company, 1909~1910), 304-305.

4. University Missourian, October 24, 1905, 3.

h. Pfenning, "William P. Hall," 287-291.
6. Interview with Robert L. Parkinson, May 31, 1974, Baraboo, Wisconsin.

7. Tom Parkinson, "A Thousand Footnotes to History: Circus World Museum
Presents the Papers of William P. Hall," Bandwagon, XVII {January-February,
1973), 4-8. Thus far circus historian Parkinson has completed at least
seven articles from the Hall papers held by the Circus World Museum.

8. R. Parkinson interview; John and Alice Durant, Pictorial History of the
American Circus, (New York: A, S. Barnes and Company, 1957), 315; and
T. Parkinson, "Hail Papers,” 6.

9. Interview with Beulah Tallman, Leona Drake, and Nelle George, May 30, 1974,
Lancaster, Missouri; and Pfenning, "Peanuts and Sawdust," 200.

10. "where Circuses Go When They Die,” The Literary Digest, CXIV (September 10,
1932), 30-32.

11.Lancaster Excelsior, June 6, 1974, 1; and R. Parkinson interview.
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